IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

No. 2006-KA-02100-COA

MICHAEL GOLDMAN

APPELLANT

Vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Madison County, Mississippi

Julie Ann Epps (A

504 East Peace Street Canton, MS 39046 (601) 407-1410 facsimile (601) 407-1435

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Michael Goldman

Appellant/Defendant

Lisa Ross Darla Mannery Palmer Trial AttorneyS for Michael Goldman

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. The trial court erred in allowing the jury instruction on count three to constructively amend the indictment to change not only the method of the assault but also the necessity of proving any injury.
- 2. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the constructive amendment of the indictment.
- 3. The trial court erred in refusing to allow the defendant to cross-examine Ebony Beal about her past sexual relations with the defendant.
- 4. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to give proper notice so as to allow the Defendant to put on evidence of a previous sexual encounter with Ebony Beal.
- 5. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to admit Ebony's medical records.
- 6. The trial court erred in meeting with the jury prior to sentencing.
- 7. The errors taken together are cause for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The indictment:

Michael Goldman was indicted in November, 2004 for a May 30, 2003, attack on Ebony Beal. CP. 5; RE. 12. He was charged with three counts: burglary with intent to commit sexual battery in violation of M.C.A. §97-17-23; sexual battery of Ebony Beal in violation of §97-3-95; and causing bodily harm to Ebony Beal by striking and choking her in violation of § 97-3-7.

The trial:

Ebony Beal was spending the night at her mother's house on the night of May 29, 2003. Her mother, Tina Beal, was still at work when Ebony went to sleep that night around 10:00 or 11:00 p.m. T. 108. Around 1 a.m., the phone rang. The caller, a male, wanted to know if Ebony's mother was home. Ebony said "no." A few minutes later, there was another call by the same male asking if her brother was at home. Ebony again said "no." T. 109. Later, Ebony heard noises and then she saw a shadow. She dialed 911 and the dispatcher told her to stay on the phone. T. 110. Ebony told the dispatcher that she saw a knife. The person holding the knife retreated but quickly returned holding a blanket in front of his face. T. 111-112. Ebony started screaming and the intruder told her that she shouldn't be there alone. T. 112. The intruder took Ebony's clothes off and tried to make her perform oral intercourse. T. 113. Ebony refused and shook her head back and forth. The intruder then started having intercourse with Ebony. T.

114. Ebony managed to grab the knife and they wrestled over the weapon. Ebony was cut in the process. T. 114. The intruder managed to get the knife back and at that point the police arrived. T. 115. It was only then that Ebony realized that the intruder was Michael Goldman. T. 115. Goldman "said that he was drunk, that he was sorry, he didn't know what he was doing." T. 116.

Ebony's grandfather L.C. Beal testified that he was at his home on May 30, 2003 (he does not live in the same house as his daughter Tina). T. 140. His phone rang between 1 and 3 a.m. and a male caller asked if Tina was at home. T. 141. Beal replied that Tina was at work. T. 142.

Madison County Deputy Sheriff Joey Butler testified that he was in the office on Highway 51 in Canton when he got a call about a home invasion on Laura Drive. T. 144. At the house on Laura Drive he was joined by Deputy Johnson. Butler kicked in the front door. T. 147. To the left of the living room was a bedroom. Butler testified that he saw Goldman on top of Ms. Beal. T. 147. The deputies charged into the room and ordered Goldman onto the ground. Goldman stated that "he had gotten drunk. He said, 'I fucked up and made a mistake.'" T. 149.

The prosecution admitted the approximately twelve-minute 911 call through the dispatcher who took the call, Stephen Vincent. T. 207.

The defense put three witnesses on the stand. The first was Dontavious Cleaver. T. 221. He had been living with Reverend James Dauhtery, the Reverend's wife Lolita and the couple's three girls. T. 221. Michael Goldman

was also living in the home. T. 222. Cleaver testified that the knife that had been introduced into evidence was the same knife that the people in Reverend Dauhtery's household kept in the Lincoln Town Car to use to pry open the house's door when it would jam. T. 222-23.

Cleaver testified that he first knew Michael Goldman from church and school and he had known Ebony Beal for about two years. T. 223. On May 30, 2003, sometime after midnight, Goldman woke Cleaver up and asked to use his cell phone. T. 224. Goldman told Cleaver that Cleaver had missed a call from Ebony. T. 224. Cleaver testified that he had seen Michael and Ebony together on various occasions leaving school, leaving church together and riding to school together. T. 225.

Reverend James Dauhtery testified that in May, 2003, he was living in Canton with his wife, his three daughters, Dontavious and Michael. T. 240. He testified that the front door of their house often got stuck and the family used a butcher knife to open it when it got stuck. T. 241. He identified the knife (State's ex. 1) as the knife they used on the door. T. 241. Dauhtery's wife is Michael Goldman's first cousin. T. 242. Michael had been staying with them. He was a big help around the house. T. 242. Reverend Dauhtery testified that he had seen Michael and Ebony together at school and at church. T. 244.

Michael Goldman testified on his own behalf. He had known Ebony Beal since he was around fifteen years old. T. 258. They had spent time together at school and church. T. 258. On May 30, 2003, he had gotten home around 12:30

and asked Dontavious if he could use his cell phone to call his friend Trenasia. T. 259. When he picked up the phone, he saw that there was a missed call from Ebony. T. 259. He called Trenasia. He then called Ebony and told her he had seen her earlier in the park and asked what she was doing. He asked Ebony if he could come over. T. 259. She said "sure." He gave Dontavious his cell phone back and went down the street to Ebony's house. There he knocked on the door multiple times but no one ever came to the door. T. 260.

Goldman testified that he went back to Reverend Dauhtery's house and called Ebony and asked her why she didn't come to the door. She told him that she had not heard him. T. 261. He went back to her house and knocked again and, again, got no response. T. 262. At this point, he was worried that something was wrong. T. 263-64. He went to the window on the side and knocked; he knocked on the back door and then noticed an open window. He went to his car and tried to call Ebony on the phone and still got no answer. T. 263.

Michael testified that he found this all very strange because just as he had driven up to the house, he had seen a light go out and so he knew that someone was in the house. He decided to check it out himself. T. 264. He grabbed the knife that was kept in the car and gained entrance through a window. T. 264. He went through the house and ran into Ebony, startling her so that she was jumping up and screaming. T. 265. Michael tried to calm her down by telling her "this is Mike, why didn't you come to the door." She was screaming "don't stab me." T. 265. She asked why he had come through the window and he told her that when

she didn't come to the door, he thought someone was in the house with her. T. 266. They talked. She wanted to know what he had come to the house for. He told her he needed to leave and as he did so, she pulled him to her. T. 268. Michael thought that she wanted to have intercourse with him. T. 268. She wasn't telling him to get off of her or pushing him away. T. 268. She asked him whether she wanted him to get on top of her and that is where the police busted in. T. 269. The police threw him outside and kicked him. T. 270. Michael testified that it was never his intention to force Ebony to do anything and that his only intention when he went into the house was to see what was going on in there. T. 271.

The jury found Goldman guilty on all three counts. T. 310-11; CP. 41-43; RE. 15-17. The trial court sentenced Goldman to 25 years on the burglary and 30 on the sexual battery to be served concurrently. T. 317-18. The trial court sentenced Goldman to 20 years on the aggravated assault to run consecutive to the other sentences. T. 318; CP. 44; RE. 18.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Michael Goldman was indicted on three counts. One of these was for aggravated assault. The indictment charged Michael with assault causing serious bodily injury by striking and choking Ebony Beal. The testimony, though, contained no evidence that Michael struck or choked Ebony. Instead, Ebony testified that Michael used a knife. The court thereafter instructed the jury that Michael was guilty of aggravated assault if he attempted to cause bodily injury with a knife. The instruction worked a constructive amendment to the indictment changing not only the manner of the assault but the requirement that the prosecution prove serious bodily injury (or any bodily injury for that matter). The instruction denied Michael Goldman a defense that he had to the aggravated assault charge contained in the indictment and, thus, was a substantive amendment that could only be accomplished – at least, legally - by the grand jury. This substantive amendment to the indictment requires that Goldman's conviction and sentence for aggravated assault be reversed.

Trial counsel for Michael Goldman failed to object to the instruction's amending the indictment. Her failure to properly preserve this issue for review fell below the standard expected of effective counsel and denied Goldman his right to counsel guaranteed by the United States and Mississippi Constitutions.

The trial court also erred when it disallowed Goldman from presenting evidence that he had previously had sexual relations with Ebony Beal. This

evidence was relevant to Goldman's defense that the sexual activity that night was consensual. To the extent that the trial court's ruling was based on defense counsel's failure to provide proper notice pursuant to M.R.E. 412, defense counsel's performance amounted to ineffective assistance of counsel.

It was further error for the trial court to allow the prosecution to introduce Ebony's medical records into evidence. This permitted the jury to take with them into their deliberations a previous out-of-court statement of Ebony Beal concerning the incident. A prior out-of-court statement, even when admissible to prove that the declarant didn't recently contrive her testimony, is never admissible as substantive evidence.

Finally, the trial court in this case met with the jurors privately prior to pronouncing sentence. To the extent that the court discussed the case with the jury outside the presence of the defendant, the defendant was denied the opportunity to know and, if necessary, to rebut, any information used by the court in pronouncing sentence.

If any single error is not cause for reversal, the several errors considered together require that Michael Goldman's convictions and sentences be reversed.

LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in allowing the jury instruction on count three to constructively amend the indictment to change not only the method of the assault but also the necessity of proving any injury.

In count three of the indictment, Michael Goldman was charged with purposely causing serious injury to Ebony Beal "by striking and choking her.." CP. 6; RE. 13. The instruction as to this count, however, instructed the jury to find Michael Goldman guilty of aggravated assault if they found that he caused or attempted to cause bodily injury with "a knife, a deadly weapon." CP. 38; RE. 14. The instruction had the effect of amending the indictment in violation of Michael's right to have the charges first presented to a grand jury. U.S.Const. Amend. 5; Unif.R.Cir. and Crim. Ct. 7.09. Mississippi law is clear that substantive amendments to an indictment can only be made by a grand jury. Forkner v. State, 902 So.2d 615, 623 (Miss.App. 2004).

An indictment must include "a statement of facts and circumstances that will inform the accused of the specific offense with which he is charged." *Hamling v. United States*, 418 U.S. 87, 117, 94 S.Ct. 2887(1974); *Russell v. United States*, 369 U.S. 749, 763-64, 82 S.Ct. 1038 (1962); *Hodgin v. State*, 2007 WL 2128353, *4 (Miss., July 26, 2007). This serves several purposes:

(1) to furnish the accused such a description of the charge against him as will enable him to make his defense and avail himself of his conviction or acquittal for protection against a further prosecution for the same cause, (2) to inform the court of the facts alleged so that it may decide whether they are sufficient in law to support a conviction if one should be

obtained and (3) to guard against malicious, groundless prosecution.

Garner v. State, 944 So.2d 934, 939 (Miss.App. 2006). If the defendant is not apprised of the charges he would have to defend against at trial, prejudice may occur. *United States v. Berger*, 295 U.S. 78, 83-84, 55 S.Ct. 628 (1935).

The Constitution prohibits constructive amendment of an indictment. The prohibition is derived from the Fifth Amendment, which provides that "[n]o person shall be held to answer for ... [an] infamous crime, unless on a presentment or indictment of a Grand Jury," United States Constitution Amend. V, and from the Sixth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment due process clauses, which guarantee that a defendant have notice of the charges against him. *United States* v. *Bishop*, 469 F.3d 896, 902 (10 Cir. 2006).

"[A] constructive amendment of the indictment occurs when the jury is permitted to convict the defendant upon a factual basis that effectively modifies an essential element of the offense charged." *United States v. Chambers*, 408 F.3d 237, 241 (5th Cir. 2005). *See also, Dunn v. United States*, 442 U.S. 100, 105, 99 S.Ct. 2190 (1979) (stating variance occurs when facts proven by evidence at trial differ from those alleged in indictment).

In this case, count three of the indictment charged Michael with causing or attempting to cause **serious** bodily injury by **striking and choking** Ebony. CP. 6; RE. 13. There was never any evidence that Michael choked or struck Ebony and

this absence of evidence provided Michael a defense to the charges contained in count three.

The instruction as to count three also told the jury it could convict Michael if they found that Michael caused or attempted to cause bodily injury with a knife. The jury under this instruction need not find that Goldman caused any injury.

The indictment, on the other hand, required that the jury find that Goldman caused serious bodily injury. Serious bodily injury is that "which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious, permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ." Fleming v. State 604 So.2d 280, 292 (Miss. 1992) (emphasis supplied) citing section 210.0 of the Model Penal Code (1980). Since Ebony's injuries were limited to scratches, the amendment via instruction also took from Michael the defense that any injuries suffered by Ebony were not serious. Where the defendant is charged with assault using a deadly weapon, e.g. a knife or gun, it matters not that any injury results. Thus, the constructive amendment to the indictment here meant that the prosecution no longer had to prove that Ebony suffered serious bodily injury or any injury for that matter. The constructive amendment, then, was substantive and could only be done by the grand jury.

¹ Ebony described her injuries as cuts (T. 117) but the medical records describe them as scratches. State's Ex. 7.

In *United States v. Nunez*, 180 F.3d 227 (5th Cir. 1999), the defendant was indicted on a charge of resisting arrest by assaulting a police officer with a firearm. At trial, the court gave the jury two instructions: one that allowed the jury to convict if it found that the defendant resisted arrest with the use of a firearm and another instruction allowing a guilty verdict of the jury found that the defendant resisted arrest by "forcibly assaulting, impeding, intimidating or interfering with a federal officer." *Nunez*, 180 F.3d at 230. The jury acquitted the defendant on the charge of assault under the first instruction but convicted him under the second instruction.

The Fifth Circuit reversed the conviction finding that the instruction's amending the charge was such that it allowed the defendant "to be convicted of a crime for which he had not been indicted." *Nunez*, 180 F.3d at 232.

There is a substantial factual difference between resisting arrest using a firearm and doing so without using a firearm. While both charges stem from the same incident, the difference between using and not using a firearm is great enough that it allowed Nunez to be convicted of a crime for which he had not been indicted.

Id.

Just as in *Nunez*, the instruction changing the theory of the prosecution's case for the charge was a substantive amendment to the indictment. Because such amendments made be made only the grand jury, and that was not done here, the conviction and sentence for aggravated assault must be reversed.

2. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the constructive amendment of the indictment.

To establish a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel a petitioner must prove that under the totality of circumstances (1) the counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient performance deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064(1984); Benson v. State, 821 So.2d 823, 825 (Miss.2002); Burns v. State, 813 So.2d 668, 673 (Miss.2001). "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness [of counsel] must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Burns, 813 So.2d at 673.

Mississippi law is clear that had counsel objected at trial to the amendment this Court would have had no choice but to reverse. *Moses v. State*, 795 So.2d 569 (Miss.App. 2001). Unquestionably, then, trial counsel's failure to object to the amending of the indictment constituted ineffective assistance of counsel. *Benbow v. State*, 614 So.2d 398 (Miss. 1993) (defendant denied effective assistance of counsel in plea to aggravated assault where he was represented by a law student under supervision of counsel and neither counsel nor student questioned potential defects on the face of the indictment).

A reasonably competent lawyer is expected to object to indictments that are clearly defective. *See, e.g., United States v. Jones,* 403 F.3d 604 (8th Cir. 2005)

(counsel ineffective in possession of firearm case for failing to challenge indictment as multiplications where the indictment included two counts of possessing the same firearm as two different dates); *Young v. Dretke*, 356 F.3d 616 (5th Cir. 2004) (counsel was ineffective in murder case for failing to move to dismiss untimely indictment); *Wilcox v. McGee*, 241 F.3d 1242 (9th Cir. 2001) (counsel ineffective in failing to move, on double jeopardy grounds, for dismissal of second indictment charging the same offense).

The failure of trial counsel to object here requires reversal of the conviction and sentence on count three.

3. The trial court erred in refusing to allow the defendant to cross-examine Ebony Beal about her past sexual relations with the defendant.

Michael Goldman's defense at trial was that the sex was consensual. In support of this defense, Michael intended to testify and produce evidence from several other witnesses, that he had previously had sex with Ebony. The prosecution moved to exclude this evidence (CP. 27) and the trial court granted the prosecution's motion on the grounds that 1) notice had not been proper under M.R.E. 412 and 2) the court believed that the 911 tape was conclusive on the issue of whether the sex was consensual or not. T. 216-17. Ebony, though, was allowed to testify that she had not had previous sexual relations with Michael. T. 115.

In excluding the evidence, the trial court never first determined whether some lesser sanction would have been justified under the circumstances. Implicit

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