COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL GOLDMAN

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

VS.

FILED

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

. .

NO. 2006-KA-2100

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Goldman is procedurally barred from raising the issue of constructive amendment of the indictment on appeal as there was no contemporaneous objection made at trial and as the issue was not raised in his motion for new trial. Notwithstanding the bar, any constructive amendment to the indictment was not substantive and therefore does not constitute reversible error. Also, Defendant did not establish that he received ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the alleged constructive amendment of the indictment in that he failed to meet the requirements of the *Strickland*

test.

Cross-examination of the victim regarding her past sexual relationship with the Defendant was properly excluded. Again, Defendant failed to meet the requirements of the *Strickland* test and therefore did not establish that he received ineffective assistance of counsel with regard to the cross-examination of the victim about her past sexual relationship with the Defendant.

Defendant is procedurally barred from raising the issue of whether the trial court erred in allowing into evidence the victim's medical records as the objection made at trial waived the objection on the grounds set forth in Defendant's brief and as the issue was not set forth in Defendant's motion for new trial. However, notwithstanding the bar, the records were properly admitted under Mississippi Rule of Evidence 803(4).

Defendant is procedurally barred from raising his sixth issue on appeal as there was no contemporaneous objection made at trial and as the issue was not raised in his motion for new trial. Furthermore, Defendant failed to show how this alleged error prejudiced his case.

There can be no cumulative error as there are no errors in any of the issues Defendant raised.

ARGUMENTS

I. DEFENDANT IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THE ISSUE OF CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDICTMENT ON APPEAL; HOWEVER, NOTWITHSTANDING THE BAR, ANY CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT TO THE INDICTMENT WAS NOT SUBSTANTIVE AND THEREFORE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE REVERSIBLE ERROR.

Goldman argues that "the trial court erred in allowing the jury instruction on count three to constructively amend the indictment to not only change the method of the assault but also the necessity of proving any injury." (Appellant's Brief p. 8). However, Goldman is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal as no contemporaneous objection was made and as the issue was not raised in his motion for new trial.¹ With regard to failure to make a contemporaneous objection,

this Court has previously held:

"It is axiomatic that a litigant is required to make a timely objection." Smith v. State, 797 So.2d 854, 856(\P 7) (Miss.2001) (citing Barnett v. State, 725 So.2d 797, 801(\P 23) (Miss.1998)). The failure to make a contemporaneous objection, serves as a waiver of any error. Id. Thus, the failure to make a timely objection serves as a procedural bar in this case.

Washington v. State, 957 So.2d 426, 429 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). See also Davis v. State, 684 So.2d

643, 659 (Miss. 1996) (holding that the defendant "did not object to Instruction S-3 on the grounds that a variance existed between the indictment and the instruction; therefore, he is procedurally barred."). Additionally, Goldman did not raise the issue in his motion for new trial. "Questions will not be decided on appeal which were not presented to the trial court and that court given an opportunity to rule on them." *Stringer v. State*, 279 So.2d 156, 158 (Miss. 1973). "In other words, the trial court cannot be put in error, unless it has had an opportunity of committing error." *Id*.

Notwithstanding the bar, Goldman is not entitled to a reversal of his conviction and sentence as he contends. Goldman argues that Jury Instruction No. 8 had the "effect of amending the indictment." (Appellant's Brief p. 8). This Court noted in *Harris v. State*, that "it is not error for jury instructions to reflect a constructive amendment to an indictment." 830 So.2d 681, 684 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held:

Not all variances between the indictment and instructions constitute a constructive amendment, nor do they rise to plain error. The central question is whether the variance is such as to substantially alter the elements of proof necessary for a conviction.

¹ Goldman's motion for new trial is not in the record. However, the transcript of the hearing on the motion indicates that the only two issues raised in the motion were that the verdict was against the weight of the evidence and that the trial court erred in refusing to allow cross-examination of the victim regarding previous sexual relations with the defendant. (Transcript p. 321 - 327).

Bell v. State, 725 So.2d 836, 855 (Miss. 1998). In this regard, the Court set forth the following guidelines:

It is well settled in this state that a change in the indictment is permissible if it does not materially alter facts which are the essence of the offense on the face of the indictment as it originally stood or materially alter a defense to the indictment as it originally stood so as to prejudice the defendant's case. (*Citations omitted*). The test for whether an amendment to the indictment will prejudice the defense is whether the defense as it originally stood would be equally available after the amendment is made. (*Citations omitted*).

Spann v. State, 771 So.2d 883, 898 (Miss. 2000).

Goldman first argues that the indictment charged him with causing or attempting to cause serious bodily injury by "striking and choking Ebony." (Appellant's Brief p. 9). He then argues that there was no evidence that he did so and that "this absence of evidence provided [Goldman] a defense to the charges contained in count three." (Appellant's Brief p. 9 - 10). However, there was evidence that he struck and choked Ebony. (Transcript p. 137). Further, Goldman notes that the jury instruction allowed the jury to convict him if he "caused or attempted to cause bodily injury with a knife." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). Again there was evidence that he did so. (Transcript p. 114). Therefore, in either circumstance, his defense was that he did not cause or attempt to cause any injury serious or otherwise to Ebony. However, the evidence presented at trial illustrated that he struck (transcript p. 137), choked (transcript p. 137), threatened Ebony with a knife (transcript p. 114 and 137), and in fact, injured Ebony with a knife (transcript p. 117). Thus his defense did not change and failed regardless.

Goldman also argues that "the jury under this instruction need not find that Goldman caused any injury." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). While Goldman is correct in stating that the jury instruction required only that the jury find that he "attempt[ed] to cause" injury, the indictment also gave notice that the State intended to prove that he "attempt[ed] to cause" bodily injury as well. Thus, under either circumstance, attempt to cause injury was all that was required and Goldman's defense that he did not cause or attempt to cause any injury, serious or otherwise, remained intact. At no point, was the State required to show that Ebony suffered serious injury. The State only had to show that Goldman attempted to cause injury. As trial courts are allowed to amend indictments "if the amendment is immaterial to the merits of the case and the defense will not prejudiced by the amendment," this issue is without merit. *Smith v. State*, 725 So.2d 922, 928 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *Eakes v. State*, 665 So.2d 852, 859 (Miss. 1995)).

II. DEFENDANT FAILED TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE STRICKLAND TEST AND THEREFORE DID NOT ESTABLISH THAT HE RECEIVED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL WITH REGARD TO THE ALLEGED CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDICTMENT.

Goldman claims that his "trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the constructive amendment of the indictment." (Appellant's Brief p. 12). While a defendant may raise the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal, "this Court may determine the merits of the claim only when '(a) ... the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the Court determines that findings of fact by the trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed." *Clayton v. State*, 946 So.2d 796, 803 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). **"A conclusion that the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions is equivalent to a finding that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial** *sua sponte***."** *Id.* **(citing** *Colenburg v. State***, 735 So.2d 1099, 1102 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (***Emphasis added***). The record in this case does not demonstrate that the trial court should have declared a mistrial or ordered a new trial** *sua sponte* **because of the quality of defense counsel's representation of Goldman and, therefore, does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. With regard to ineffective assistance of counsel** claims, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held the following:

In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must prove (1) that his attorney's overall performance was deficient and (2) that the deficient performance, if any, was so substantial as to prejudice the defendant and deprive him of a fair trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Furthermore, there is a "strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *Walters v. State*, 720 So.2d 856, 868 (Miss.1998). To overcome this presumption, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Schmitt v. State*, 560 So.2d 148, 154 (Miss.1990). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* "Only where it is reasonably probable that, but for the attorney's errors, the outcome of the trial would have been different will this Court find the counsel's performance was deficient." *Id.*

Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140, 1146-47 (Miss.2002) (quoting *Gary v. State*, 760 So.2d 743, 753 (Miss.2000)) (*Emphasis added*). Moreover, this Court held that "[i]n addition to the presumption that counsel's conduct is reasonably professional, there is a presumption that counsel's decision are strategic in nature, rather than negligent." *Alonso v. State*, 838 So.2d 309, 313 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Therefore, in order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel raised on direct appeal, the defendant must show "from the record that his counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance prejudiced him." *Walker v. State*, 823 So.2d 557, 563 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686) (*emphasis added*). This determination is made based on the "totality of the circumstances." *Cole v. State*, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss. 1995) (citing *Frierson v. State*, 606 So.2d 604, 608 (Miss. 1992)). "The target of appellate scrutiny in evaluating the deficiency and prejudice prongs of *Strickland* is counsel's 'over-all' performance." *Id*.

Accordingly, Goldman must, not only show that his counsel was deficient in the areas he

alleged, but he also must show how these alleged deficiencies prejudiced his case. In order to prove prejudice, Goldman must show from the record that his counsel's "errors were of such a serious magnitude as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial because of a reasonable probability that, but for counselor's unprofessional errors, the results would have been different." *Cole*, 666 So.2d at 775 (quoting *Martin v. State*, 609 So.2d 435, 438 (Miss. 1992)). Goldman has failed to meet this burden.

Goldman fails to show, from the record, how his counsel's failure to object to the jury instruction would have changed the outcome of his case. First, as set forth above, the instruction did not substantively change the indictment and therefore was properly allowed. Second, there is nothing in the record to show that even if the instruction were objected to and refused, that Goldman would not have been convicted of aggravated assault. As set forth in detail above, the evidence clearly shows that Goldman, at the very least, attempted to cause bodily injury to Ebony by striking her, choking her, and threatening her with a knife. Thus, Goldman has failed to show that he was prejudiced by his attorney's alleged deficient performance. Thus, his second issue is without merit.

III. CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE VICTIM REGARDING HER PAST SEXUAL RELATIONSHIP WITH THE DEFENDANT WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED.

Goldman also argues that "the trial court erred in refusing to allow the defendant to crossexamine Ebony Neal about her past sexual relations with the defendant." (Appellant's Brief p. 13). "The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and absent abuse of that discretion, the trial court's decision on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal." *Porter v. State*, 869 So.2d 414, 417(Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *McCoy v. State*, 820 So.2d 25, 30 (Miss. Ct. App.2002)). "When the trial court stays within the parameters of the Rules of Evidence, the decision to exclude or admit evidence will be afforded a high degree of deference." *Id*. When the issue was before the trial judge, he responded that:

It looks like to me that, first of all, Ms. Palmer, there has not been a compliance with the requirements under 412(c). But I will tell you, quite frankly, even if I were to have found there was compliance, I don't believe this element, I mean this type of testimony would be relevant. And I say that - - well, first of all, and even if I were to have found that that type of testimony would have been relevant. I believe I would have excluded it under 403, because I believe any probative value would have been substantially outweighed by the unfair prejudice. And the reason I say that is, even if there had been a prior sexual relationship between the defendant and the victim. Ebony Beal, it's very clear on that tape that she was not consenting; and I believe that it would be confusing to the jury to say that because - - to allow a defendant to make an argument that, because she had sex with him before or consented, that that is a defense to him coming in and committing sexual battery at knife point. I just believe that would be unfairly prejudiced. And any probative value would have been outweighed by that. First of all, the requirements of 412 have not been complied with. But even if they had been complied with, I don't believe that evidence is relevant. And even if it was relevant, I believe the probative value would be substantially outweighed by the unfair prejudice, presenting that evidence to the jury to allow them to possibly make a decision that prior consent meant that this situation would have been consensual, and it's clear from the tape that it wasn't to me.

(Transcript p. 216-217). The testimony was properly excluded on all three grounds articulated by

the trial judge. Mississippi Rule of Evidence 412 states in pertinent part as follows:

* * *

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, in a criminal case in which a person is accused of a sexual offense against another person, evidence of a victim's past sexual behavior other than reputation or opinion evidence is also not admissible, unless such evidence other than reputation or opinion evidence is:

* * *

(2) Admitted in accordance with subdivision (c) hereof and is evidence of
 * * *

(B) Past sexual behavior with the accused and is offered by the accused upon the issue of whether the alleged victim consented to the sexual behavior with respect to which a sexual offense is alleged; * * *

(c) (1) If the person accused of committing a sexual offense intends to offer under subdivision (b) evidence of specific instances of the alleged victim's past sexual behavior or evidence of past false allegations made by the alleged victim, the accused shall make a written motion to the offer such evidence not later than fifteen days before the date on which the trial in which such evidence is to be offered is scheduled to begin, except that the court may allow the motion to be made a later date, including during trial, if the court determines either that the evidence is newly discovered and could not have been obtained earlier through the exercise of due diligence or that the issue to which such evidence relates has newly arisen in the case.

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